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ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 
 

  



NOTICE 
 
 

NOTICE is hereby given that the Twentyfirst Annual General Meeting of the Members of Amba River 
Coke Limited will be held at its Registered Office at “JSW Centre, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra 
(East), Mumbai 400051 on Wednesday, 18th July, 2018 at 2.00 P.M to transact the following 
business:- 
 
ORDINARY BUSINESS 
 
1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial 

year ended 31st March, 2018, and the Reports of the Board of Directors and the Auditors thereon. 
 
2. To appoint a Director in place of Mr Ashok Aggarwal (DIN 03628781), who retires by rotation and, 

being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment. 
 

3. To ratify the appointment of the Auditors of the Company and their remuneration fixed at the 
seventeenth Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 18th August, 2014, and in this 
regard to consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following 
resolution as an Ordinary resolution: 
 
“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the first proviso to Section 139(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
read with the first proviso to Rule 3(7) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as 
amended from time to time, the appointment of M/s. Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered 
Accountants (ICAI Registration No. 117366W/W-100018), as the Auditors of the Company to hold 
office from the conclusion of the 17th Annual General Meeting until the conclusion of the 22nd 
Annual General Meeting of the Company, on such remuneration as may be decided by the Board 
of Directors of the Company, made at the 17th Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 
18th August, 2014, be and is hereby ratified.” 

 
SPECIAL BUSINESS 
 
4. To consider, and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following resolution as 

an Ordinary Resolution: 
 

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 152 and all other applicable provisions, if 
any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and Rules f ramed thereunder (including any 
statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), Mr Prem Pushkar 
Varma (DIN 08046584), who was appointed by the Board of Directors as an Additional Director of 
the Company with effect from 1st February, 2018, and who holds office upto the date of this Annual 
General Meeting and in respect of whom a notice in writing under Section 160 of the Act has been 
received from a member signifying the intention to propose Mr Prem Pushkar Varma as a 
candidate for the office of Director of the Company, be and is hereby appointed as a Director of 
the Company liable to retire by rotation.” 

 
 
5.   To consider, and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following resolution as 

an Ordinary Resolution: 
 
“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 148 and all other applicable provisions, 
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 
(including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force), the 
remuneration of Rs. 5.00 lakhs (Rupees five lakhs only) plus applicable taxes and reimbursement 
of actual travel and out of pocket expenses, to be paid to M/s. D C Dave & Co. (Firm Registration 
No. 000611) Cost Auditors of the Company, for the financial year 2018-19, as approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, be and is hereby ratified.” 
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6. To consider, and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following resolution as 
an Ordinary Resolution: 

  
“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 196, 197, 198, and 203 read with 
Schedule V and all other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 (including 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force), and subject to 
the approval of the Central Government, if necessary, the Company hereby approves the 
appointment of Mr Prem Pushkar Varma (DIN 08046584), as a Whole-time Director of the 
Company, designated as ‘Head-Iron & Agglomeration’, for a period of three years from               
1st February, 2018 to 31st January, 2021, upon such terms and conditions including remuneration 
as are set out in the statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 annexed 
to the Notice of this Annual General Meeting, with liberty to the Board of Directors (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Board” which term shall include any duly authorised Committee of the Board) 
to alter or vary the terms and conditions of the said appointment including the remuneration which 
shall not exceed an overall ceiling of Rs.12,00,000/- per month, as may be agreed to between the 
Board and Mr Prem Pushkar Varma. 
 
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT subject to the limits imposed under Sections 196, 197, 198, and 
203 read with Schedule V and all other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 
and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 
(including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force), and 
subject to the approval of the Central Government, if necessary, the perquisite value computed in 
terms of the Income Tax Act, 1961 and the rules and regulations framed thereunder upon 
exercise of options granted/to be granted to Mr Prem Pushkar Varma by JSW Steel Limited under 
JSWSL ESOP Plan 2016, shall be over and above the overall ceiling on remuneration (including 
salary and perquisites) approved by the Members from time to time. 
 
RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to this resolution, the Board be and 
is hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as it may in its absolute 
discretion deem necessary, proper or desirable and to settle any questions or doubts that may 
arise in this regard.” 
 

By Order of the Board 
For Amba River Coke Limited 

 
 

Rajeev Jain  
Place: Mumbai                   Company Secretary 
Date : 30th April, 2018          ACS 9724 
 
NOTES:  
         
1. A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT 

A PROXY TO ATTEND AND VOTE ON A POLL INSTEAD OF HIMSELF/HERSELF AND SUCH 
PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. 
 
The instrument(s) appointing the proxy, if any, shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the 
Company at JSW Centre, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051 not less than 
forty eight (48) hours before the commencement of the Meeting and in default, the instrument of 
proxy shall be treated as invalid. Proxies shall not have any right to speak at the meeting. 
 
A person can act as a proxy on behalf of members not exceeding fifty and holding in the 
aggregate not more than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying voting rights. 
A member holding more than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying voting 
rights may appoint a single person as proxy and such person shall not act as a proxy for any other 
person or shareholder. 
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2. The statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 setting out the material 
facts in respect of the business under Item Nos. 4 to 6 set out above and the details in respect of 
Directors proposed to be re-appointed at the Annual General Meeting, is annexed hereto. 

 
3. The details in respect of Director proposed to be appointed/re-appointed at the Annual General 

Meeting, is annexed hereto. 
 
4. Members are requested to intimate the Company at its registered Office at JSW Centre, Bandra 

Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051, immediately on any change in their address in 
respect of the equity shares held in physical mode and to their Depository Participants (DPs) in 
respect of equity shares held in dematerialised mode. 

 
5. All the documents referred to in the accompanying Notice and Explanatory Statement are open 

for inspection at the Company’s Registered Office at JSW Centre, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra 
(East), Mumbai 400 051 on all working days of the Company, between 10.00 a.m. and 1.00 p.m. 
upto the date of the Annual General Meeting. 

 
  
  

ANNEXURE TO NOTICE 
 
 
STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2013 

 
 
The statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 for Item Nos. 4 to 6 of the 
accompanying notice is as under: 

 
Item No. 4 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, at its meeting held on 18th January, 2018 appointed Mr Prem Pushkar Varma (DIN 
08046584) as an Additional Director of the Company with effect from  1st February, 2018, in terms of 
Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013. Mr Prem Pushkar Varma will hold office upto the date of the 
ensuing 21st Annual General Meeting. The Company has received notice in writing from a Member, 
under Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013, signifying the intention to propose Mr Prem Pushkar 
Varma as a candidate for the office of Director of the Company. Mr Prem Pushkar Varma is not 
disqualified from being appointed as Director in terms of Section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013.  
 
Mr. Prem Pushkar Varma holds a Bachelor of Technology degree in Mechanical Engineering from IIT 
BHU.  He possesses rich experience spanning over 30 years in the steel industry. He has served 
public as well as private sector organisations in the steel sector.  He has vast practical, technical and 
administrative experience in operation and maintenance of all major units such as Coke Ovens, Blast 
furnace, Hot Strip Mill, Caster, Sinter, Pellet, RMHS etc.He has been associated with Dolvi Unit of 
JSW Steel Ltd. for about 14 years and played a vital role in establishing pellet plant and sinter plant 
and capacity enhancement of Blast Furnace. Prior to this he was associated with SAIL, Bokaro Steel 
Plant.  
 
Your Board considers that in view of his vast and rich experience, the appointment of  Mr Prem 
Pushkar Varma would be in the best interest of the Company. Mr Prem Pushkar Varma, if appointed, 
will be liable to retire by rotation. 
 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma is not related to any Director of the Company. Mr Prem Pushkar Varma does 
not hold any share in the Company. 
 
None of the Directors and/or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or their relatives, other than 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma and his relatives, is in any way concerned or interested, financially or 
otherwise, in the resolution. 
 
Your Directors recommend the resolution as at Item No.4 for your approval. 
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Item No. 5 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, 
considered and approved at its meeting held on 30th April, 2018 the appointment of M/s. D C Dave & 
Co. as the Cost Auditor of the Company to conduct audit of the cost records for the financial year 
2018-19 on a remuneration of Rs. 5.00 lakhs (Rupees five lakhs only) plus applicable taxes and 
reimbursement of actual travel and out of pocket expenses, 
 
Pursuant to Section 148(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 14 of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014, the remuneration, as approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
the recommendation of the Audit Committee, is required to be subsequently ratified by the Members of 
the Company. 
 
The Resolution as at Item No. 5 of the Notice is therefore set out as an Ordinary Resolution for 
approval and ratification by the Members. 
 
None of the Directors and/or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and their relatives is in any 
way concerned or interested, financially or otherwise, in the resolution. 
 
Your Directors recommend the resolution as at Item No. 5 for your approval. 
 
 
Item No. 6 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, appointed at its meeting held on 18th January, 2018 Mr Prem Pushkar Varma (DIN 
08046584) as an Additional Director of the Company with effect from     1st February, 2018, in terms of 
Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
Based on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Board in its 
meeting held on 18th January, 2018, appointed Mr Prem Pushkar Varma as a Whole-time Director of the 
Company designated as ‘‘Head-Iron & Agglomeration” for a period of three years with effect from          
1st February, 2018 subject to the approval of the Members of the Company in a General Meeting, and 
the Central Government, if required. 
 
Mr. Prem Pushkar Varma holds a Bachelor of Technology degree in Mechanical Engineering from IIT 
BHU.  He possesses rich experience spanning over 30 years in the steel industry. He has served public 
as well as private sector organisations in the steel sector.  He has vast practical, technical and 
administrative experience in operation and maintenance of all major units such as Coke Ovens, Blast 
furnace, Hot Strip Mill, Caster, Sinter, Pellet, RMHS etc.He has been associated with Dolvi Unit of JSW 
Steel Ltd. for about 14 years and played a vital role in establishing pellet plant and sinter plant and 
capacity enhancement of Blast Furnace. Prior to this he was associated with SAIL, Bokaro Steel Plant. 
 
Considering the rich and vast experience and expertise of Mr Prem Pushkar Varma, the appointment of 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma as Whole-time Director of the Company designated as ‘Head-Iron & 
Agglomeration’ for a period of three years with effect from 1st February, 2018 would be in the best 
interest of the Company. 
 
The remuneration of Mr Prem Pushkar Varma will be so fixed by the Board of Directors from time to 
time, such that the Basic Salary and the aggregate value of all perquisites and allowances like furnished 
accommodation or house rent allowance in lieu thereof; house maintenance allowance together with 
reimbursement of expenses or allowances for utilities such as gas, electricity, water, furnishings and 
repairs; supplementary allowance; bonus; performance incentive; medical reimbursement; leave travel 
allowance; medical insurance; contribution to Provident Fund,  Superannuation Fund or Annuity Fund to 
the extent these either singly or put together are not taxable under the Income Tax Act, 1961; Gratuity as 
per rules of the Company (which shall not exceed half a month’s salary for each completed year of 
service); Earned leave with full pay or encashment as per the rules of the Company; Provision for use of 
Company’s car for official duties and telephone at residence (including payment for local calls and long 
distance official calls) and such other perquisites and allowances in accordance with the rules of the 

4



Company or as may be agreed to by the Board of Directors and Mr Prem Pushkar Varma, shall not 
exceed the overall ceiling on remuneration approved by the members in General Meeting. Your 
Directors have recommended a maximum remuneration of Rs. 12,00,000/- per month for Mr Prem 
Pushkar Varma. 

The following perquisites shall not be included in the computation of the ceiling on remuneration specified 
above: 
 
(i) Provision for use of Company’s car for official duties and telephone at residence (including payment 

for local calls and long distance official calls) 
 
 (ii) Company’s contribution to provident fund, superannuation fund or annuity fund, to the extent these 

either singly or put together are not taxable under the Income-tax Act, 1961. 
 
(iii) Gratuity at a rate not exceeding half a month’s salary for each completed year of service; and  
 
(iv) Earned leave with full pay or encashment as per rules of the Company.  
 
For the purposes of calculating the above ceiling, perquisites shall be evaluated as per Income-tax Rules, 
wherever applicable. In the absence of any such provisions, perquisites shall be evaluated at actual cost. 
 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma has been granted 53,987 options by JSW Steel Limited under 1st and 2nd 
Grant of JSWSL ESOP Plan 2016. Mr Prem Pushkar Varma may also be granted options under 3rd and 
final Grant of JSWSL ESOP Plan 2016. However, the perquisite value computed in terms of the Income 
Tax Act, 1961 and the rules and regulations framed thereunder upon exercise of options granted/to be 
granted under JSWSL ESOP Plan 2016, shall also be not included in the overall ceiling on 
remuneration (including salary and perquisites and allowances) approved by the Members from time to 
time and shall be over and above such ceiling. 
 
In the event of loss or inadequacy of profits in any financial year, Mr Prem Pushkar Varma shall be paid 
remuneration by way of salary and perquisites as specified above, subject to the approval of the Central 
Government, if required. 
 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma shall not be eligible for any sitting fees for attending the Company’s Board or 
Committee Meetings. The Board of Directors may, in its absolute discretion, pay to Mr Prem Pushkar 
Varma lower remuneration than the maximum remuneration hereinabove stipulated and revise the 
same from time to time within the maximum limit stipulated by this resolution. 
 
The proposed remuneration is within the limits prescribed under Section I of Part II of Schedule V of 
the Companies Act, 2013.  
  
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors has approved the proposed 
appointment of and payment of remuneration to Mr Prem Pushkar Varma. 
 
A copy of the agreement entered into with Mr Prem Pushkar Varma is available for inspection at the 
Company’s Registered Office at JSW Centre, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400051 
on all working days of the Company, between 10.00 a.m. and 1.00 p.m. 
 
None of the Directors and/or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company, except Mr Prem Pushkar 
Varma, and their relatives is in any way concerned or interested, financially or otherwise, in the 
resolution. 
 
Your Directors recommend the resolution as at Item No. 6 for your approval. 
 

By Order of the Board 
For Amba River Coke Limited 

 
       Rajeev Jain  

Place: Mumbai                    Company Secretary 
Date : 30th April, 2018          ACS 9724 
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Details of Director seeking appointment/re-appointment at the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting 
 
Name of Director Mr Ashok Aggarwal Mr Prem Pushkar Varma 
Date of Birth 24.03.1959 13.01.1965 
Date of 
first appointment on the Board 23.12.2013 01.02.2018 

Qualification BE (Electronics and 
Communication)                

B Tech (Mechanical 
Engineering) 

Experience/Expertise in specific 
functional area 

He has a vast and rich 
experience of 36 years in 
designing of drive system for 
industrial plants (at BHEL, 
Bangalore), commissioning of 
drive & automation system for 
Steel plants (at BHEL, Bokaro 
SAIL site), installation & 
operation of Hot Strip Mill (at 
ESSAR, Hazira), Operation & 
Maintenance of Hot & Cold 
Rolling Mills and Logistics & 
Production Planning. He is joint 
Chief Executive Officer of Dolvi 
unit of JSW Steel Limited, the 
Holding Company. He has led 
the team for installation of largest 
and most modern Hot Strip Mill 
in India, revamp of Hot Strip Mill 
– 1 to increase capacity from 2.0 
MTPA to 3.2 MTPA.  

He possesses rich 
experience spanning over 30 
years in the steel industry. 
He has served public as well 
as private sector 
organisations in the steel 
sector.  He has vast 
practical, technical and 
administrative experience in 
operation and maintenance 
of all major units such as 
Coke Ovens, Blast furnace, 
Hot Strip Mill, Caster, Sinter, 
Pellet, RMHS etc. He has 
been associated with Dolvi 
Unit of JSW Steel Ltd. for 
about 14 years and played a 
vital role in establishing pellet 
plant and sinter plant and 
capacity enhancement of 
Blast Furnace. Prior to this 
he was associated with SAIL, 
Bokaro Steel Plant. 
 

Terms and conditions of 
appointment/re-appointment 

Non-executive Director  liable to 
retirement by rotation 

Appointed as additional 
Director and Whole-time 
Director for a period of three 
years. He is liable to retire by 
rotation. The Company shall 
be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement by giving one (1) 
month notice or salary in lieu 
thereof. If the Whole-time 
Director wishes to resign 
from the services of the 
Company, he shall, to that 
effect, give notice for a 
period not less than one 
month to the Company. 

Details of remuneration sought to 
be paid and remuneration last 
drawn 
 

Nil 

Remuneration ceiling of Rs. 
12,00,000 per month., 
including perquisites and 
allowances, as detailed in the 
explanatory statement.  
Not entitled to any sitting fees 
for attending meetings of 
Board and any Committees 
thereof. 
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Relationship 
with other Directors, Manager 
and other Key Managerial 
Personnel of 
the company 

Not related to any Director or 
other Key Managerial Personnel 
of the Company. The Company 
does not have a Manager. 
 

Not related to any Director or 
other Key Managerial 
Personnel of the Company. 
The Company does not have 
a Manager. 
 

Number of Meetings of the Board 
attended during the 
FY 2017-18 

5/5 NA 

Directorship in other Companies 
as on 31.03.2018 

Hasaud Steel Limited 
Creixent Special Steel Limited 
Milloret Steel Limited 

Nil 

Membership in the Committees of 
other Companies 

Nil Nil 

Chairman/Membership in other 
Companies as on 31.03.2018 

Nil Nil 

No. of shares held in the 
Company as on 31.03.2018 

Nil Nil 
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ROUTE MAP TO THE VENUE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
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AMBA RIVER COKE LIMITED 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Dear Shareholders, 

Your Directors are pleased to present the Twenty-first Annual Report, together with the 
Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2018. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS 
(Rs. in crores) 

Sl. 
No. Particulars 

For financial  
year ended 

31st March 2018 

For financial  
year ended 

31st March 2017 
(i) Revenue from operations 5,106.96 4,874.20 
(ii) Other income 18.10 9.80 
(iii) Total Income (i+ii) 5,125.06 4884.00 
(iv) Expenses  

Cost of materials consumed 4,001.83 3618.62 
Purchases of traded goods 182.03 80.46 
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-
in-progress 27.88 (15.11) 

Excise duty expense 146.07 443.70 
Employee benefits expense 26.05 25.61 
Finance costs 184.76 134.48 
Depreciation expense 1.71 1.06 
Other expenses 292.83 352.33 

Total expenses 4,863.16 4641.15 
(v) Profit before tax (iii-iv) 261.90 242.85 
(vi) Tax expense : 

Current tax 58.37 54.15 
Deferred tax 34.75 29.80 

(vii) Profit for the year  (v-vi) 168.78 158.90 
(viii) Other Comprehensive Income 

A (i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
(a) Re-measurements of defined benefit plans 
(b) Equity instrument through other 

comprehensive income  
(ii) Income tax related to items that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss 

0.28 

5.81 

(0.10) 

(0.06) 

(3.94) 

0.02 
B (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss: 

(a) The effective portion of gains and loss on 
hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge 

(b) Changes in foreign currency monetary item 
translation difference account (FCMITDA) 

(ii)  Income tax related to items that will be 
reclassified to profit or loss 

0.51 

3.22 

(1.29) 

- 

37.11 

(13.29) 
Total other comprehensive income (A+B) 8.43 19.84 

(ix) Total Comprehensive income for the year 
(vii+viii) 177.21 178.74 
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In terms of notification issued by Ministry of the Corporate Affairs (MCA), the financial 
statements for the year ended 31st March, 2018 have been prepared and reported under Ind 
AS.  

Performance 

The Company produced 1.04 million ton of Coke and 4.19 million ton of Pellet during the 
financial year 2017-18. Capacity utilisation of the Coke Oven plant and Pellet Plant during the 
FY 2017-18 increased by 3.20% and 5.52% respectively over the previous year. 

The revenue from operations for the year under review was Rs. 5,106.96 crores as against 
Rs. 4,874.20 crores during the previous year, registering a growth of 4.77% over the previous 
year. After considering other income of Rs. 18.10 crores (Rs. 9.80 crores for FY 2016-17), 
total income for the year was Rs. 5,125.06 crores as against Rs. 4884.00 crores in the 
previous year. The Operating EBITDA at Rs. 430.27 crores was up by 16.73% from previous 
year. Profit after tax was Rs. 168.78 crores as against the Profit after tax of Rs.158.90 crores 
in the previous year, representing an increase of 6.22%.  

The Company had, pursuant to the approval of the Board, entered into a tolling agreement 
with Brahmani River Pellets Ltd. (BRPL), for supply of raw materials to BRPL for production 
of pellets and purchase of pellets from BRPL. The Company had also entered into deed of 
assignments and other agreements for assignment in its favour of certain intercompany debts 
and advances payable by BRPL. However, in view of certain legal issues the Company has 
cancelled the tolling agreement and has re-assigned the receivables from BRPL to JSW 
Techno Projects Management Limited and Mitsun Steels Private Limited. 

CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS 

There was no change in the nature of business during the year under review. No material 
changes or commitments have occurred between the end of the year under review and the 
date of the Directors’ Report affecting the financial position of the Company. 

DIVIDEND  

The Board of Directors has not recommended any dividend for the year on the share capital 
of the Company. 

AMOUNT TRANSFERRED TO RESERVES 

No amount is proposed to be transferred to the reserves for the year under review. 

CREDIT RATING 

During the year, CARE Ratings Ltd (formerly known as Credit Analysis & Research 
Ltd.) retained rating of ''AA-' for the Company's long term debt/facilities and the highest level 
of “A1+” for the short term debt/facilities. CARE Ratings Limited has also retained the rating 
of ''AA-'' for the Secured Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures of the Company. It has 
continued to assign a stable outlook on the long term rating of the Company. 
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HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY, ASSOCIATE AND JOINT VENTURE COMPANIES 

Your Company continues to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of JSW Steel Limited. The 
Company is not having any subsidiary or associate company or joint venture. No company 
has ceased to be the Company’s subsidiary, joint venture or associate during the financial 
year 2017-18.  

FIXED DEPOSIT 

Your Company has not accepted or renewed any deposits from the public in terms of Section 
73 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 
2014. 

SHARE CAPITAL 

There was no change in the Authorised Capital of the Company during the year under review. 

There was no issue of shares during the year. Accordingly, the paid-up equity share capital 
remained at Rs. 931,89,86,700/-. 

During the year under review the Company has not: 

(i) Issued equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise. 
(ii) Issued sweat equity shares 
(iii) Offered shares under a scheme of employees’ stock option 

DEBENTURES 

The Company’s 3,000 Secured Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures of Rs. 10,00,000/- 
each (NCDs), aggregating to Rs. 300 crores, are listed on BSE Limited. SBICAP Trustee 
Company Ltd. are the Debenture Trustee for the NCDs. 

Name and Address of Debenture Trustee 

SBICAP Trustee Company Limited 
Apeejay House, 6th Floor, 
3 Dinshaw Wachha Road 
Churchgate, Mumbai 400020 
Tel : 022-43025555;  
email : helpdesk@sbicaptrustee.com 

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 

Mr Ajit Karande (DIN 05134599) resigned as Whole-time Director of the Company as well as 
the Director of the Company with effect from 1st February, 2018 in view of change in the role 
and assignment of new responsibility in another Group Company. 
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Your Directors put on record the appreciation for the services rendered by Mr Ajit Karande 
during his tenure on the Board of the Company. 

Pursuant to the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Mr Prem 
Pushkar Varma (DIN 08046584) was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company 
with effect from 1st February, 2018. Mr Prem Pushkar Varma shall hold office until the date of 
the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Your Company has received a notice under Section 
160 of the Companies Act, 2013 from a shareholder of your Company signifying his intention 
to propose the name of Mr Prem Pushkar Varma for appointment as a Director of your 
Company. Pursuant to the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma has also been appointed as Whole-time Director of the Company 
designated as ‘Head-Iron & Agglomeration’ for a period of three years with effect from 
1st February, 2018, subject to the approval of the members of the Company and the Central 
Government, if required. 

The proposal for appointment of Mr Prem Pushkar Varma as Director and as Whole-time 
Director designated as ‘Head-Iron Agglomeration’ is placed for your approval.  

Mr Ashok Aggarwal, Director (DIN 03628781) is liable to retire by rotation at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting, and, being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.  

The proposal for re-appointment of Mr Ashok Aggarwal as Director of the Company is placed 
for your approval. 

Mr Gautam Mitra was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect 
from 24th April, 2017. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETINGS 

The Board of Directors of the Company, as on March 31, 2018, comprised four Non-
Executive Directors, including two independent Directors, and one Whole-time Director. 

During the year, 5 meetings of the Board of Directors were held: on 24th April, 2017 
(adjourned meeting on 13th May, 2017), 19th July, 2017, 18th September, 2017, 17th October, 
2017 and 18th January, 2018. 

The details of the composition of the Board and the number of Board Meetings attended by 
the directors are as under: 

Name of the Director Category Designation No. of Board 
meetings attended 

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon Independent Non-
Executive Director 5 

Ms Nayantara Palchoudhuri Independent Non-
Executive Director 4 

Mr Ashok Kumar Aggarwal Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director 5 

Mr Pradeep Bhargava Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director 4 
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Name of the Director Category Designation No. of Board 
meetings attended 

Mr Ajit Karande * Executive Whole-time 
Director 5 

Mr Prem Pushkar Varma ** Executive 
Whole-time 

Director (Head-Iron 
& Agglomeration) 

NA 

* Upto 31st January, 2018;       ** w,e,f, 1st February, 2018

The Company has received necessary declarations from Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon and 
Ms Nayantara Palchoudhuri that they meet the criteria of independence specified under 
Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

COMMITTEES OF BOARD 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, as on March 31, 2018, comprised three Non-
Executive Directors, including two Independent Directors.  

During the year, the Committee met four times on 24th April, 2017 (adjourned meeting on 
13th May, 2017), 19th July, 2017, 17th October, 2017 and 18th January, 2018. 

The details of the composition of the Committee and the number of Meetings attended by the 
members are as under 

Name of the Member Category No. of meetings attended 
Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon Independent Non-Executive 4 
Ms Nayantara Palchoudhuri Independent Non-Executive 4 
Mr Pradeep Bhargava Non-Independent Non-

Executive 3 

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Company Secretary 
acts as the Secretary of the Committee. 

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon, the Chairman of the Committee was present at the last Annual 
General Meeting held on 16th June, 2017. 

The scope and terms of reference of the Committee are in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013. The broad terms of reference of the Committee are: 

 Reviewing the financial statements before submission to the Board.

 Reviewing the reports of the statutory auditors and internal auditor.

 Reviewing the internal financial controls and risk management systems, including, internal
controls over financial reporting, and its adequacy and effectiveness.
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 Recommending the appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of statutory
auditors and cost auditors of the company.

 Approving transactions of the Company with related parties and subsequent modifications
of the transactions with related parties.

All the recommendations made by Audit Committee to Board during the period under review 
were accepted by the Board. 

Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

The “Nomination & Remuneration Committee” of the Board of Directors, as on 31st March, 
2018, comprised four Non-Executive Directors, including two Independent Directors. 

During the year, the Committee has met two times: on 24th April, 2017 and 18th January, 
2018. 

The details of the composition of the Committee and the number of Meetings attended by the 
members are as under: 

Name of the Member Category No. of meetings attended 
Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon Independent Non-Executive 2 
Ms Nayantara Palchoudhuri Independent Non-Executive 2 
Mr Pradeep Bhargava Non-Independent Non-

Executive 1 

Mr Ashok Aggarwal Non-Independent Non-
Executive 1 

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon is the Chairman of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 
The Company Secretary acts as the Secretary of the Committee. 

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon, the Chairman of the Committee was present at the last Annual 
General Meeting held on 16th June, 2017. 

The scope and terms of reference of the Committee are in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013. The broad terms of reference of the Committee are as under: 

 Identify persons who are qualified to become directors and who may be appointed in
senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, recommend to the Board
their appointment and removal and carry out evaluation of every director’s performance.

 Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence
of a director.

 Recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration for the directors, key
managerial personnel and other employees.

 Carry out evaluation of every director’s performance.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (CSR), as on 31st March, 2018, comprised 
two Non-Executive Directors, including one Independent Director, and one Executive 
Director. 

During the year, the Committee has met two times: on 24th April, 2016 and 17th October, 
2017. 

The details of the composition of the Committee and the number of Meetings attended by the 
members are as under: 

Name of the Member Category No. of meetings attended 

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon Independent Non-
Executive 

2 

Mr Pradeep Bhargava Non-Independent Non-
Executive 2 

Mr Ajit Karande * Executive 2 
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma ** Executive NA 

* upto 31st January, 2018;    ** w.e.f. 1st February, 2018

 Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon is the Chairman of the Committee. The Company Secretary acts 
as the Secretary of the Committee. 

The terms of reference of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee are as under: 

 Formulate and recommend to the Board, a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy (CSR
Policy) for the Company, which shall indicate a list of CSR projects or programs which the
Company plans to undertake falling within the purview of Schedule VII of the Companies
Act 2013, as may be amended from time to time;

 Recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on each of the activities to be
undertaken by the Company, while ensuring that it does not include any expenditure on an
item not in conformity or not in line with activities which fall within the purview of Schedule
VII of the Companies Act, 2013;

 Approve the Annual Report on CSR activities to be included in the Director’s Report
forming part of the Company’s Annual Report and attribute reasons for short comings in
incurring expenditures, if any.

 Monitor the CSR Policy and CSR activities of the Company from time to time; and

 Institute a transparent monitoring mechanism for implementation of the CSR projects or
programs or activities undertaken by the Company.
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POLICIES 

Vigil Mechanism / Whistle Blower Policy 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has adopted Whistle 
Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism (“the Policy”). The Policy has been formulated to provide a 
mechanism for directors and employees of the Company to report genuine concerns or 
grievances about unethical behavior and actual or suspected fraud. The Company believes in 
adopting highest standards of professionalism, honesty, integrity and ethical behavior. 
Accordingly, the Policy encourages all employees to report any suspected violations, 
unethical behavior, actual or suspected fraud or any unethical or improper activity, including 
misuse or improper use of accounting policies and procedures resulting in misrepresentation 
of accounts and financial statements. 

The Policy specifies the procedure and reporting authority for reporting such concerns or 
grievances. The Policy also provides for adequate safeguards against victimization or unfair 
treatment of directors or employees who avail of the mechanism and also provide for direct 
access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee/Ethic Counsellor in exceptional cases.  

Nomination Policy and Remuneration Policy 

The Company has formulated Nomination Policy approved by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors for appointment of directors and key 
managerial personnel. The Policy provides a frame work and set standards for the 
appointment of persons to serve as Directors on the Board of the Company and for 
appointment of the Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and Senior Management of the 
Company, who have the capacity and ability to lead the Company towards achieving 
sustainable development. 

The Company has also formulated ‘Remuneration Policy’, approved by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, relating to the remuneration of the directors, key managerial 
personnel and other employees, with the broad objectives to attract, retain and motivate 
directors, KMP and other employees, establish clear relationship of remuneration to 
performance, balance between components of fixed and variable pay appropriate to the 
working of the Company and its goals.  

The Executive Directors’ (EDs) compensation is based on the appraisal system where their 
individual goals are linked to the organization goal. EDs are paid compensation as per the 
agreement entered into between them and the Company subject to approval of the Board and 
of the members of the Company in General Meeting and such other approval as the case may 
be. 

The Independent Non-Executive Directors are paid remuneration by way of sitting fees and 
commission, if any. 

The KMP, Senior Management Personnel and other employees of the Company are paid 
remuneration as per the Company’s policies and / or as approved by the Committee, as may 
be applicable. 
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The Whole-time Director of the Company has not received any commission from the 
Company and has also not received any remuneration or commission from the Company’s 
holding company. 

Board Evaluation Policy 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, a “Board Evaluation Policy” has been 
framed and approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Board. The 
purpose of the Board Evaluation is to achieve persistent and consistent improvement in the 
governance of the Company at the Board level with an intention to establish and follow “best 
practices” in Board governance in order to fulfill its fiduciary obligation to the Company. The 
Board believes that the evaluation will lead to a closer working relationship among Board 
members, greater efficiency in the use of the Board’s time, and increased effectiveness of the 
Board as a governing body. 

Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 

Pursuant to the Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Corporate 
Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, the Company has adopted Corporate Social 
Responsibility Policy (CSR Policy), as recommended by the Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.  

The policy strives to address social issues and Company’s commitment towards Corporate 
Social Responsibility. In line with the approach and strategy, the CSR Policy provides 
interventions in the field of health, education, livelihood, vocational education, women 
empowerment, environment sustainability and responsible citizenship. Taking a note of the 
importance of synergy and interdependence at various levels, the Policy adopts a strategy for 
working directly or in partnership, wherever appropriate giving priority to the areas in the 
immediate vicinity of the plant locations. However, certain programs might be expanded 
beyond this geographical purview and upscaled. 

The Company’s key thematic interventions as per the Schedule VII of the Companies Act 
2013 include: 

• Improving living conditions (eradication of hunger, poverty, malnutrition etc.)
• Promoting social development (education, skill development, livelihood enhancements etc.)
• Addressing social inequalities (gender equality, women empowerment etc.)
• Ensuring environmental sustainability
• Preserving national heritage
• Sports training
• Supporting technological incubators
• Rural development projects

The disclosure as per Rule 9 of the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) 
Rules, 2014 in respect of CSR activities undertaken by the Company during the FY 2017-18 
is annexed to this report as Annexure-B 
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Risk Management Policy 

The Company has formulated and implemented a Risk Management Policy for evaluating 
business risks. A Risk Management framework has been set up to anticipate, discuss and 
respond to the identified and emerging risks that may have adverse impact on the Company 
in achieving its business objectives and sustainable growth. The framework deals with 
the identified risks along with the risk response strategies to ensure resilience with an 
intention to protect the stakeholders interest. The risks are reviewed on regular basis for any 
change since last assessment. The risks and the risk response strategies are also reviewed 
by the Board. 

EVALUATION OF DIRECTORS, COMMITTEES AND BOARD 

A structured questionnaire was prepared for evaluation of the Board/Committees covering all 
aspects of the Board’s / Committee’s functioning such as adequacy of the composition of the 
Board and its Committees, Board culture, execution and performance of specific duties, 
obligations and governance. A separate set of questionnaire has also been prepared for self-
evaluation by each individual Directors based on certain parameters such as level of 
engagement and contribution, independence of judgement, safeguarding interest of the 
Company and stakeholders, etc. The responses received from each Director on the 
abovementioned sets of questionnaire are tabulated for reference of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee and the Board for evaluation purpose.  

The annual evaluation of the performance of non-independent Directors, the Board and the 
quality, content and timeliness of flow of information between the Management and the Board 
that is necessary for the Board to effectively and reasonably perform its duties, was carried 
out by the Independent Directors at their separate meeting held without the attendance of the 
non-independent Directors and the members of the management. The annual performance 
evaluation of every Director was carried out by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
of the Board based on the specified parameters. The Board carried out the annual 
performance evaluation of the Independent Directors individually, its own performance as 
well as of the working of the Committees of the Board. 

The Directors expressed their satisfaction with the evaluation process. 

AUDITORS AND AUDITORS REPORT 

Statutory Auditors 

At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 18th August, 2014, M/s. Deloitte Haskins & 
Sells LLP, Chartered Accountants (ICAI firm registration No. 117366W/W-100018) were 
appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the Company for a period of five years to hold office 
from the conclusion of the 17th AGM till the conclusion of 22nd AGM, subject to the ratification 
of such appointment by the members of the Company at every subsequent AGM. 

In terms of Section 139(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, the appointment of the Statutory 
Auditors to hold office from the conclusion of the 17th AGM till the conclusion of 22nd AGM is 
placed at the ensuing Annual General Meeting for ratification.  
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The report of the Statutory Auditors is self-explanatory and, there being no qualification, 
reservation or adverse remarks, does not require any further elucidation under Section 134(3) 
of the Companies Act, 2013. 

Cost Auditors 

In terms of Section 148(2) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Cost 
Records and Audit), Amendment Rules 2014, your Company is required to get its cost 
accounting records audited by a Cost Auditor. Accordingly, the Board has, on the 
recommendation of the Audit Committee, appointed M/s D C Dave & Co., Cost Accountants, 
(Firm Registration No. 000611) as the Cost Auditors of the Company, to conduct audit of the 
cost accounting records for the Financial Year 2018-19 on a remuneration of Rs. 5.00 lacs 
plus applicable taxes and reimbursement of actual travel and out of pocket expenses. The 
remuneration approved by the Board is subject to the ratification of the shareholders in terms 
of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014. Your Directors recommend ratification of payment of remuneration to M/s D C 
Dave & Co. as approved by the Board, for the audit of the cost accounting records of the 
Company for the financial year 2018-19. 

Secretarial Auditors 

In terms of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the Board appointed M/s. Vanita 
Sawant & Associates, Practicing Company Secretaries for conducting Secretarial Audit of the 
Company for the financial year 2017-18. The report of the Secretarial Auditors is enclosed as 
Annexure-C to this report. The report is self-explanatory and, there being no observation or 
qualification, do not require any further comments. 

During the period under review, the Company has complied with the applicable Secretarial 
Standards notified by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India. 

The Board has, at its meeting held on 30th April, 2018, re-appointed M/s. Vanita Sawant & 
Associates, Practicing Company Secretaries, as Secretarial Auditor, for conducting 
Secretarial Audit of the Company for financial year 2018-19. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All transactions entered into with the related parties during the year ended 31st March, 2018 
were in the ordinary course of business and on arm’s length basis. However, all the related 
party transactions are placed before the Audit Committee for review and approval. The 
details of the material related party transactions entered during the year ended 31st March, 
2018 are disclosed in terms of Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 in Form AOC-2 
attached hereto as Annexure-D. Suitable disclosure on Related Party transactions as 
required by the Ind AS 24 has been made in the notes to the Financial Statements. 

In terms of Section 177(4)(iv) of the Companies Act 2013, all transactions of the Company 
with Related Parties or any subsequent modification thereof is required to be approved by the 
Audit Committee. Further, in terms of Rule 6A of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its 
Powers) Rules, 2014, the Audit Committee may grant omnibus approval for transactions with 
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Related Parties and the Audit Committee shall, after obtaining approval of the Board of 
Directors, specify the criteria for making the omnibus approval. The Audit Committee has, 
after obtaining the approval of the Board of Directors, specified the criteria for making 
omnibus approval for related party transactions to be entered by the Company. The omnibus 
approval of the Audit Committee is obtained for Related Party Transactions which are of 
repetitive nature and / or entered in the Ordinary Course of Business and are at Arm’s 
Length. The Related Party Transactions are reviewed by an independent accounting firm to 
establish compliance with the requirements of Related Party Transactions under the 
Companies Act, 2013. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS 

Internal control 

The Company has a proper and adequate system of internal control commensurate with the 
size and nature of its business.  Internal control systems are integral of Company’s corporate 
governance. Some significant features of internal control system are: 

 Adequate documentation of policies, guidelines, authorities and approval procedures
covering all the important functions of the company.

 Deployment of an ERP system which covers most of its operations and is supported by a
defined on-line authorisation protocol.

 Ensuring complete compliance with laws, regulations, standards and internal procedures
and systems.

 De-risking the company’s assets/ resources and protecting them from any loss.
 Ensuring the integrity of the accounting system; the proper and authorised recording and

reporting of all transactions.
 Preparation and monitoring of annual budgets for all operating and service functions.
 Ensuring a reliability of all financial and operational information.
 Regular review of audit plans, significant audit findings, adequacy of internal controls,

compliance with Accounting Standards etc. by the Audit Committee, comprising of
independent directors/non-executive directors.

 A comprehensive Information Security Policy and continuous updation of IT Systems.

The internal control systems and procedures are designed to assist in the identification and 
management of risks, the procedure-led verification of all compliance as well as an enhanced 
control consciousness. 

Internal audit 

The Company has an internal audit function that inculcates global best standards and 
practices of international majors into the Indian operations. The Company has an internal 
auditor reporting to Audit Committee comprising Independent / Non-executive Directors. The 
Company successfully integrated the COSO framework with its audit process to enhance the 
quality of its financial reporting, compatible with business ethics, effective controls and 
governance. 
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The Company extensively practices delegation of authority across its team, which creates 
effective checks and balances within the system to arrest all possible gaps. The internal audit 
team has access to all information in the organisation – this is largely facilitated by ERP 
implementation across the organisation. 

Audit plan and execution 

Internal Audit department prepares a risk-based Audit Plan. The frequency of audit is decided 
by risk ratings of areas / functions.  The audit plan is carried out by the internal team. The 
audit plan is reviewed periodically to include areas which have assumed significant 
importance in line with the emerging industry trend and the growth of the company.  

Internal Financial Control 

The Company has developed and implemented a framework for ensuring internal controls 
over financial reporting. This framework includes a risks and control matrix covering entity 
level controls, process and operating level controls and IT general controls. 

The entity level policies include anti-fraud policies (like code of conduct, conflict of interest, 
confidentiality and whistle blower policy) and other polices (like organization structure, HR 
policy, IT security policy). The company has also prepared Standard Operating Procedures 
(SOP) for each of its processes like procure to pay, order to cash, hire to retire, treasury, 
fixed assets, inventory, manufacturing operations etc. 

During the year, controls were tested and no reportable material weakness in design and 
effectiveness was observed. There have been no significant changes in the Company’s 
internal financial controls during the year. 

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS 

The Company has not given any loan, provided any guarantee, given any security or made 
any investment during the financial year under review which attracts the provisions of Section 
186 of the Companies Act, 2013 and requires approval of the shareholders.  

STOCK OPTIONS GRANTED TO THE ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY BY 
THE HOLDING COMPANY UNDER JSWSL EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN-
2016 

JSW Steel Limited (‘JSWSL’), the Holding Company, has formulated JSWSL Employees 
Stock Ownership Plan-2016 (‘JSWSL ESOP Plan’) to be implemented through JSW Steel 
Employees Welfare Trust (‘Trust) to grant stock options to the eligible employees of JSWSL 
and its Indian Subsidiaries. The JSWSL ESOP Plan involves acquisition of Shares of JSWSL 
from the Secondary Market. In all, three grants would be made. 

Your Company being a wholly-owned subsidiary of JSWSL, a total of 10,073 stock options 
have been granted by JSWSL on 16th May, 2017 to Mr Ajit Karande, the then Whole-time 
Director of the Company, being eligible under the 2nd Grant pursuant to the JSWL ESOP Plan. 
In terms of JSWSL ESOP Plan, 50% of these options will vest at the end of third year and 
balance 50% at the end of fourth year. 
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Mr Prem Pushkar Varma, who has been appointed as Whole-time Director with effect from 
1st February, 2018, is holding 53,987 stock options which were granted to him prior to his 
appointment as Whole-time Director. 

DISCLOSURE UNDER SECTION 67(3) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 

During the year under review no special resolution was passed under Section 67(3) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and, hence, no information as required under Section 67(3) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 16(4) of Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) 
Rules, 2014 is disclosed.  

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORK PLACE 
(PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013  

The Company has a Policy on prevention of sexual harassment at work place. An Internal 
Complaints Committee has been constituted to redress the complaints received regarding 
sexual harassment. All employees are covered under this policy. 

No complaints pertaining to sexual harassment were received during the year under review. 

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS OR COURTS 
OR TRIBUNALS WHICH WOULD IMPACT THE GOING CONCERN STATUS OF THE 
COMPANY AND ITS FUTURE OPERATIONS 

During the year under review, no significant material orders were passed by the Regulators 
or Courts or Tribunals which would impact the going concern status of the Company and its 
future operations. 

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013, the 
extract of the Annual Return in Form MGT – 9 for the financial year 2017-18 is annexed as 
Annexure-E and forms part of this report. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

Pursuant to the requirement under Sections 134 (3)(c) and 134(5) of the Companies Act, 
2013, your Directors confirm that: 

(a)   in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been 
followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures; 

(b)   the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and 
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the 
profit and loss of the Company for that period; 
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(c)   the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and 
other irregularities; 

(d)   the directors had prepared the annual accounts for the year under review on a going 
concern basis;  

(e)   the directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the company and 
that such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively; and  

(f) the directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively. 

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES AND RELATED DISCLOSURES 

Disclosures pertaining to particulars of employees as required in terms of the Section 197 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is annexed as Annexure-F and forms 
part of this report. However, there were no employees who were in receipt of remuneration 
which was in the aggregate, in excess of the prescribed limits and therefore the related 
disclosures in terms of the abovementioned section and rules is not attached to the Directors' 
Report.  

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO 

The information required pursuant to the provisions of Section 134 (3) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 regarding conservation of 
energy, technology absorption or innovation and foreign exchange earnings and outgo, is 
provided as Annexure-A and forms part of this report. 

APPRECIATION 

Your Directors would like to express their appreciation for co-operation and assistance 
received from Government authorities, financial institutions, banks, debentureholders, 
vendors, customers, shareholders and other business associates during the year under 
review. The Directors also wish to place on record their appreciation of the devoted and 
committed services rendered by all the employees of the Company. 

For and on behalf of the Board 

P P Varma    Pradeep Bhargava 
Whole-time Director        Director     

Date : 30th April, 2018 
Place : Mumbai 
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Annexure – A 

Information in accordance with the provisions of Section 134(3) (m) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 regarding 
Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption and Foreign Exchange Earnings and 
Outgo. 

(A) Energy Conservation 

(i) Steps taken or impact on conservation of energy 

Pellet Plant 

1. Operated pellet plant at maximum rated capacity during H2 of FY 2017-18.  Higher pellet
production rate has resulted in electric power savings to the tune of 5.55% and savings in
heat input /Mt of pellet to the tune of 4.5%.

2. Upto 50% usage of low cost soft iron ore in feed mix for pellet production in FY 2017-18,
has also contributed in power savings.

3. Replaced 200 no 400 WattsX2 HPSV lights with 140 Watts LED lights in pellet plant. It has
resulted in electric power savings.

Coke Oven 

1. Reduction of Specific Power consumption by 12 % during the year by way of following
measures:

(a)   Reduction in power consumption by taking cooling tower VFDs in control loop with
outlet water temperature of circulating water system 

(b)   Modification of oven top water sealing system by installing smaller capacity pump to 
re-circulate the water of oven lids and ascension pipe 

(c)   Operation of jockey pump of lower capacity instead of main motor of higher capacity, 
has been initiated for firefighting circuit. 

(d)   Modification of ” High pressure ammonia liquor” logic by taking the flow of liquor in 
oven top along with further control loop and thus regulating the speed 

2. Fuel consumption of coke oven plant is reduced by 3 % compared to previous year

3. Necessary modifications were done with respect to zero liquid discharge by collecting
water from Soft water blowdown / regeneration water, Boiler blowdown water, Cooling
tower blowdown water. The water is directed for quenching in coke oven process. The
quantity is around 250 m3 per day.
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(ii)   Steps taken for utilizing alternate source of energy 

Nil 

(iii) Capital Investment on Energy Conservation equipment 

No capital investment made on energy conservation equipment during the FY 2017-18. 

(B) Technology absorption 

Efforts made towards technology absorption, benefits derived and details of imported 
technology (Imported during the last three years reckoned from the beginning of the financial 
year) are as under: 

Pellet Plant 

Imported Technology Benefits Year of Import / 
Absorption 

Status of 
Implementation 

Rotofeeder for limestone 
and coal addition 

Controlled addition of 
ground limestone and coke 
at mixer 

2015-2016 Commissioned 

Rotofeeder for bentonite 
addition 

Controlled addition of 
ground bentonite at mixer 2016-2017 Commissioned 

De-dusting system DE-9 Fugitive emission control 2017-2018 Commissioned 
Pneumatic conveying 
system for DE-7, DE-8 & 
De-9 

Recycling of Pellet Dust in 
Process  2017-2018 Commissioned 

Coke Oven Plant 

NIL 

Research & Development 

Pellet Plant  

The following research and development activities were undertaken during the year 
FY 2017-18: 

1. Reduction of fraction of lower cold crushing strength (CCS) product from pellet plant.
Property variation across the pellet car was studied and actions taken resulting in
improvement in abrasion index and reduction in <150 CCS fraction of pellets in product.

2.  Effect of pellet size on Cold Crushing Strength (CCS) was studied to improve the pellet
properties and standard deviation in CCS. Study reveals the effect of pellet diameter on
various pellet and DRI properties. Based on this study, a project is proposed for next year in
collaboration with CSIR lab to improve size distribution of pellet.
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3.  Lab scale studies were done with various alternate binders & polymers additives to reduce
binder consumption thus reducing total gangue content in pellet and Fe enrichment. Based
on initial lab trial, further optimization and plant scale trials have been planned in next year.

Coke Oven Plant 

The Company has not undertaken any research and development activities during the year 
under review and, hence, no expenditure has been incurred thereon during the year.  

(C) Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo pending 

There have been no foreign exchange earnings during the year under review. 

Foreign Exchange outgo during the year was:- 
Rs. in crores 

Particulars 2017-18 2016-17 
a. CIF Value of Imports

- Capital Goods 
- Raw Materials 
- Stores & spare parts 

8.25 
1,429.54 

8.33 

0.96 
1475.63 

5.92 

b. Other Expenditure 43.38 55.68 
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Annexure - B 

Annual Report on Corporate Social Responsibility Activities for FY 2017-18 

(Pursuant to Rule 9 of Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014) 

1. A brief outline of the Company’s CSR policy, including overview of the projects or
programs proposed to be undertaken and reference to the web-link to the CSR Policy and
projects or programs:

Kindly refer the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, forming part of this Annual
Report.

2. The composition of the CSR Committee:

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of the Company currently constitutes of
the following Members:

Mr Jugal Kishore Tandon – Chairman
Mr Pradeep Bhargava - Member
Mr Prem Pushkar Varma – Member

3. Average Net Profit of the company for last 3 financial years: Rs. 13883.70 lakhs

4. Prescribed CSR expenditure (2% of amount): Rs.277.67 lakhs

5. Details of CSR activities/projects undertaken during the year:

a) total amount to be spent for the financial year: Rs.277.67 lakhs

b) total amount spent in the financial year: Rs.283.35 lakhs

c) amount un-spent, if any: Nil

d) manner in which the amount spent during financial year, is detailed below:
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Rs. In lakhs 

Projects or activities Description 
Sector in 
Which the 

Initiatives were 
Covered 

Geographical Area 
where Projects are 
implemented  (2)  
the State and the 

district where 
projects or 

Programs was 
undertaken 

Amount outlay 
(budget) 

project or 
programs wise 

Expenditure 
on (1) 

projects or 
programs (2) 
Overheads: 

Cumulative 
expenditure 

up to the 
reporting 

period 

Amount spent Direct 
or through 

implementing agency 

BPO Program for rural young 
women,  

Addressing 
Social 
Inequalities 

Dolvi , Dist - Raigad 
– Maharashtra 80.31 125.78 125.78 

Direct/ Through 
Implementing Agency 

* 

Mangroves Restoration Project, 
Preparation of mangroves nursery 
in jute pots (with the help of SHGs), 
Documentation, trainings, outreach 
etc. 

Addressing 
Environmental 
Issues 

Dolvi , Dist - Raigad 
– Maharashtra 90.73 84.33 84.33 

Direct/ Through 
Implementing Agency 

* 

Agriculture programs, Community 
water Management at various 
locations in DIZ, Pond Renovation 

Rural 
Development 
Program 

Dolvi , Dist - Raigad 
– Maharashtra 68.83 39.08 39.08 

Direct/ Through 
Implementing Agency 

* 
Fishery Spawn  3 G.P./ Solar lamp 
for Fishermen, Scholarships & 
other education programs, Teacher 
Day Celebration, Construction/ 
renovation of small bridges and 
roads in the DIZ, Women SHG 
Promotion & Training 

Improving Living 
Conditions 

Dolvi , Dist - Raigad - 
Maharashtra 37.80 34.16 34.16 

Direct/ Through 
Implementing Agency 

* 

Total 277.67 283.35 283.35 

* CSR activities have been carried out directly and through several other private, Non-Governmental Organisation and Charitable Institutions
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We hereby confirm that the implementation and monitoring of CSR Policy, is in compliance 
with CSR objectives and Policy of the Company. 

For and on behalf of the 

Board of Directors of Amba River Coke Limited 

 Prem Pushkar Varma      Jugal Kishore Tandon    
Whole-time Director    Chairman of CSR Committee 

DIN: 08046584 DIN: 01282681 
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Annexure – C 

Secretarial Audit Report  
(Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 9 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 

(For the Financial Year 2017-18) 

14th April, 2018 

The Members/Board of Directors 
Amba River Coke Limited 
JSW Centre, 
Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra (E),  
Mumbai 400 051 

Foreword 

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions 
and the adherence to good corporate practices by Amba River Coke Limited, (hereinafter 
called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided me a 
reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing 
my opinion thereon.  

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minutes books, forms and returns 
filed and other records maintained by the company and also the information provided by the 
Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of 
secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company has, during the audit period 
covering the financial year ended on 31st March 2018 complied with the statutory provisions 
listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made 
hereinafter:  

I have examined the books, papers, minutes books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by Amba River Coke Limited (“the Company”) for the financial year ended on 
31st March 2018 according to the provisions of: 

(i)  The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the Rules made thereunder; 
(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the Rules made there 

under; 
(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed there under. 
(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the applicable rules and regulations 

made thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment 
and External Commercial Borrowings (no foreign exchange transactions during the audit 
period); 

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’); 
(to the extent applicable consequent upon listing of company’s NCDs w.e.f 20.02.2017.) 
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(a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

(b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
1992; 

(c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2009; 

(d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and 
Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999; 

(e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) 
Regulations, 2008; 

(f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 
2009; and 

(g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998; 

(vi) Other applicable laws: 

Factories Act, 1948 
The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 

(i) Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India. 
(ii) The Listing Agreements entered into by the Company with Stock Exchange(s), if 

applicable; 

During the period under review, based on my examination and verification of the books, 
papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records produced to me and 
according to information and explanations given to me by the Company, I report that the 
Company has in my opinion, complied with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (Act) 
and the Rules made thereunder, the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
Company and also applicable provisions of the aforesaid laws, standards, guidelines, 
agreements, etc., subject to the following observations: NIL 

I report that, during the year under review: 

1. The status of the Company during the financial year has been that of a debt listed Public
Company w.e.f  20.02.2017

2. The Company is a subsidiary of another listed company.
3. The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of

Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors. No changes
took place in the composition of the Board of Directors during the period under review.

Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and
detailed notes on agenda are sent in advance and a system exists for seeking and
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting
and for meaningful participation at the meeting.

Decisions are carried through unanimously and there have been no dissenting members’
views, which needs to be captured and recorded as part of the minutes.
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I further report that: 

There are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate with the size and 
operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and guidelines. 

I further report that: 

During the audit period the Company has effected the following activities/ events/actions 
having a major bearing on the company’s affairs in pursuance of the above referred laws, 
rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc. referred to above:- 

(i)      Increased the remuneration payable to Whole-time Director (WTD). 
(ii)      Resignation of Mr. Ajit Karande as Director & WTD of the Company w.e.f. 01/02/2018. 

Cessation of Mr Ajit Karande as Occupier of the Company’s factory at Dolvi consequent 
to his resignation as Director of the Company. 

(iii)   Appointment of Mr. Prem Pushkar Varma as Director, WTD & Occupier of the 
Company’s factory at Dolvi w.e.f.01/02/2018. 

(iv)   Appointment of Chief Financial Officer of the Company w.e.f. 24/04/2017. 
(v)      Entered into tolling arrangement with Brahmani River Pellets Ltd (BRPL) & also 

entered into Deeds of Assignment of certain intercompany debts and advances payable 
by BRPL. 

(vi)   An Extra-Ordinary General Meeting was held during the audit period (on 14/12/2017) 
under Review to discuss the proposal to assign the debt owed to the Company by 
BRPL to JTPML.  

(vii)   Assigned the receivables from BRPL to JSW Techno Projects Management Ltd 
(JTPML). 

(viii)   Terminated the Agreements executed in connection with the acquisition of receivables 
by the Company from Moorgate Industries India Pvt Ltd owed by BRPL. 

(ix)   Appointed M/s D.C. Dave & Co as Cost Auditors in place of M/s S. R. Bhargave & Co.  
(x)     Inducted Axis Bank into the consortium of banks (led by SBI) for availment of enhanced 

working capital limits. 
(xi)   The eligible employees of the Company were granted 10,073 stock options by JSW 

Steel Limited (JSWSL), the holding company, towards 2nd Grant pursuant to the JSWSL 
Employees Stock Option Plan, 2016 of JSWSL.   

(xii)   Internal Financial Control & Risk Management Systems were evaluated & found to be 
adequate. 

(xiii)   The Internal Audit Plan for FY 2017-18 was reviewed and approved. 

Place: Mumbai    
Date: 14th April 2018 Vanita Sawant & Associates 

Practising Company Secretary 
FCS 6210. CP No. 10072 

Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date, which is annexed as Annexure A 
and forms an integral part of this report. 
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Annexure A 

To  
The Members 
Amba River Coke Ltd 
JSW Centre, 
Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra (E),  
Mumbai 400 051 

 My report of even date is to be read along with this letter. 

1. Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the
company. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based
on our audit.

2. I have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain
reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records.
The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in
secretarial records. I believe that the processes and practices I followed provide a
reasonable basis for my opinion.

3. I have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of
Accounts of the company.

4. Wherever required, I have obtained the Management Representation about the
compliance of laws, rules and regulations and happenings of events etc.

5. The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules,
regulations, standards is the responsibility of management. My examination was limited
to the verification of procedures on test basis.

6. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the
company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted
the affairs of the company.

Vanita Sawant 
Name: Vanita Sawant & Associates 
Membership No: 6210 
Certificate of Practice No: 10072 

Date: 14th April 2018 

Place: Mumbai 
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Annexure – D 
Form No. AOC-2 

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014) 

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with 
related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 
including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto 
1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis:
(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship 

 Nil 
(All contracts or 
arrangements or 
transactions with 
related parties are 
at arm’s length 
basis).  

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions 
(c ) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions 

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions 
including the value, if any  

(e ) Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or 
transactions  

(f) date(s) of approval by the Board 
(g) Amount paid as advances, if any: 

(h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting 
as required under first proviso to section 188 

2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis:

(a) Name(s) of the related party and 
nature of relationship 

JSW Steel Limited, Holding Company (JSWSL) 
JSW International Trade Corp Pte Ltd, Other Related Party 
(JITCPL) 
JSW Steel (Salav) Limited, Fellow Subsidiary (JSWSSL) 

(b) Nature of contracts/ 
arrangements/ transactions 

JSWSL - Sale of coke/pellet/steel/coke oven gas etc., 
purchase of coal/iron ore fines/steel/blast furnace gas, etc, 
interest expenses, reimbursement of expenses, 
commission paid on pledge/corporate guarantee, finance 
lease income/receivables. 
JITCPL - Purchase of iron ore 
JSWSSL - Sale of pellets, barge hiring, interest income  

(c ) Duration of the contracts/ 
arrangements/ transactions  Period 01.04.2017 to 31.03.2018 

(d) 
Salient terms of the contracts or 
arrangements or transactions 
including the value, if any 

JSWSL - Sale of coke/pellets are based on the terms of 
long term contract. Other transactions are at competitive 
market price/on actuals. 
JITCPL - At competitive market price 
JSWSSL - At competitive market price 

The value of transaction amounted to - 
JSWSL - Rs. 6019.33 crores. 
JITCPL – Rs. 1589.30 crores 
JSWSSL – Rs. 562.54 crores 

(e ) Date(s) of approval by the 
Board, if any NA 

(f) Amount paid as advances, if any Nil 
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ANNEXURE - E 

Form No. MGT-9 

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN 

As on financial year ended on 31st March 2018 

[Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Companies (Management and 
Administration) Rules, 2014] 

I. REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS: 

CIN : U23100MH1997PLC110901 
Registration Date : September 25, 1997 
Name of the Company : AMBA RIVER COKE LIMITED 
Category / Sub-Category of the 
Company 

: Public Company/Limited by shares 

Address of the Registered office and 
contact details 

: JSW Centre, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400051 
Phone: 022-42861000 ;  Fax : 022-42863000 

Whether listed company  : Yes * 
Name, Address and Contact details of 
Registrar and Transfer Agent, if any: 

: Link Intime India Private Limited 
C-13, Pannalal Silk Mills Compound, LBS Marg, Bhandup (West), 
Mumbai 400078 
Tel : 022 25963838/2251;  Fax : 022 25946979 

* Secured Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures of the Company were listed on 20.02.2017

II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

All the business activities contributing 10 % or more of the total turnover of the company shall be 
stated: 

Sl. 
No. 

Name and 
Description of 
main products/ 

services 

NIC Code of 
the Product/ 

service 

% to total 
turnover of the 

company 

1 Manufacture of Coke 19101 55.72 

2 Manufacture of Pellet 24109 39.07 

III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Sr. 
No. 

Name and address of the 
Company CIN / GLN Holding/subsidiary/ 

associate 
% of shares 
held 

Applicable 
section 

1 JSW Steel Limited L27102MH1994PLC152925 Holding Company 100.00 * Section 2(46) 

* Note: Includes shares held by Nominees
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IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity):

i. Category-wise Share Holding:

Category of 
Shareholders 

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the 
year i.e as on 01.04.2017  

No. of Shares held at the end of the 
year i.e as on 31.03.2018 

% 
Change 
during 

the year
Demat Physical Total % of 

Total 
Shares 

Demat Physical Total % of 
Total 

Shares 
A. Promoters 
(1) Indian - - - - - - - - - 
a)Individual/HUF - - - - - - - - - 
b) Central Govt - - - - - - - - - 
c) State Govt(s) - - - - - - - - - 
d) Bodies Corp. 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 - 
e) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - - 
f) Any other
(Trust) 

- - - - - - - - - 

Sub-total(A)(1): 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 - 

(2) Foreign 
a) NRIs - 
Individuals 

- - - - - - - - - 

b) Other – 
Individuals 

- - - - - - - - - 

c) Bodies Corp. - - - - - - - - - 
d) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - - 
e) Any other - - - - - - - - - 
Sub-total (A)(2): - - - - - - - - - 
Total 
shareholding 
of Promoter (A) = 
(A)(1)+(A)(2) 

93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 - 

B. Public 
Shareholding 
(1) Institutions - - - - - - - - - 
a) Mutual Funds - - - - - - - - - 
b) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - - 
c) Central Govt - - - - - - - - - 
d) State Govt(s) - - - - - - - - - 
e)Venture Capital 
Funds - - - - - - - - - 

f)Insurance 
Companies - - - - - - - - - 

g) FIIs - - - - - - - - - 
h)Foreign Venture 
Capital Funds - - - - - - - - - 

i) Others (specify) - - - - - - - - - 
Sub-total (B)(1): 

- - - - - - - - - 
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Category of 
Shareholders 

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the 
year i.e as on 01.04.2017 

No. of Shares held at the end of the 
year i.e as on 31.03.2018 

% 
Change 
during 

the yearDemat Physical Total 
% of 
Total 

Shares 
Demat Physical Total 

% of 
Total 

Shares 
(2)Non-Institutions 
a) Bodies Corp.
i) Indian - - - - - - - - - 
ii) Overseas - - - - - - - - - 
b) Individuals
i) Individual
shareholders 
holding nominal 
share capital upto 
Rs. 1 lakh 

- - - - - - - - - 

ii) Individual
shareholders 
holding nominal 
share capital in 
excess of Rs 1 
lakh 

- - - - - - - - - 

c) Others (Trust) - - - - - - - - - 
Sub-total(B)(2): - - - - - - - - - 
Total Public 
Shareholding 
(B)=(B)(1)+(B)(2) 

- - - - - - - - - 

C. Shares held by 
Custodian for 
GDRs & ADRs 

- - - - - - - - - 

Grand Total 
(A+B+C) 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 93,18,98,600 70 * 93,18,98,670 100.00 - 

* Note : Shares held by Nominees 

ii. SHAREHOLDING OF PROMOTERS: 

Sl. 
No
. 

Shareholder’s 
Name 

Shareholding at the beginning of the 
year i.e as on 01.04.2017 

Shareholding at the end of the year i.e 
as on 31.03.2018 

No. of 
Shares 

% of total 
Shares of 

the 
Company 

% of Shares 
Pledged/ 

encumbered 
to total shares

No. of Shares % of total 
Shares of 

the 
Company 

% of Shares 
Pledged / 

encumbered 
to total shares

% change in 
shareholding 

during the 
year 

1 JSW Steel Limited 93,18,98,670* 100.00 32.66 93,18,98,670* 100.00 32.66 - 
Total 93,18,98,670* 100.00 32.66 93,18,98,670* 100.00 32.66 - 

* Note : 70 shares held by Nominees
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iii. CHANGE IN PROMOTERS’ SHAREHOLDING (PLEASE SPECIFY, IF THERE IS NO CHANGE):

Sl. 
No
. 

Name of the 
Shareholder 

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year i.e. 

as on 01.04.2016 

Date wise increase/(Decrease) 
in shareholding during the year 

Cumulative Shareholding 
during the year At the end of 

the year 
i.e as on 

31.03.2018 No. of 
shares 

% of total 
shares of 

the 
Company 

Date 
No of 

shares 

Reason 
for 

increase/ 
decrease 

No. of 
shares 

% of total 
shares of 

the 
Company 

1 JSW Steel 
Limited 93,18,98,670 100.00 Nil Nil Nil 93,18,98,670 100.00 93,18,98,670*

* Note : 70 shares held by Nominees

iv. SHAREHOLDING PATTERN OF TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS (OTHER THAN DIRECTORS, PROMOTERS AND
HOLDERS OF GDRS AND ADRS):

Sl. 
No
. 

Name of the 
Shareholder 

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the 
year i.e as on 
01.04.2017 

Date wise Increase/(Decrease) in 
shareholding during the year 

Cumulative 
Shareholding during 

the year 

At the end of 
the year i.e as 

on 
31.03.2018 

No. of 
shares 

% of total 
shares of 

the 
Company 

Date No. of 
shares 

Reason for 
increase/ 
decrease 

No. of 
shares 

% of total 
shares of the 

Company 

1 - - - - - - - - - 

v. SHAREHOLDING OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL:

Sl. 
No. 

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year i.e as 
on 01.04.2017 

Cumulative Shareholding during the 
year 

For each of the Directors and KMP No. of 
shares 

% of total 
shares of the 
Company 

No. of 
shares 

% of total shares of 
the Company 

At the beginning of the year 

Nil 
Date wise Increase / Decrease in 
Shareholding during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. 
allotment/transfer/bonus / sweat equity etc) 
At the End of the year 

38



V. INDEBTEDNESS: 

Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding / accrued but not due for payment. 
Amount in Rs. 

Secured Loans 
Excluding deposits 

Unsecured 
Loans 

Deposits Total 
Indebtedness 

Indebtedness at the beginning of 
the financial year 
i) Principal Amount 1373,94,39,429 - - 1373,94,39,429 
ii) Interest due but not paid 0 - - 0 
iii) Interest accrued but not due 7,92,62,124 - - 7,92,62,124 
Total (i+ii+iii) 1381,87,01,553 - - 1381,87,01,553 

- 
 Addition 75,89,04,857 - - 75,89,04,857 
 Reduction 203,42,15,386 - - 203,42,15,386 
Net Change (-) 127,53,10,529 - - (-) 127,53,10,529 

Indebtedness at the end of the 
financial year 

i) Principal Amount 1246,41,28,901 - - 1246,41,28,901 
ii) Interest due but not paid - - - - 

iii) Interest accrued but not due 6,81,45,033 - - 6,81,45,033 
Total (i+ii+iii) 1253,22,73,933 - - 1253,22,73,933 

VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL:

A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager: 

Amount in Rs. 

Sl. 
No. Particulars of Remuneration 

Mr Ajit Karande 
(Whole-time 
Director) * 

Mr Prem 
Pushkar Varma 

(Whole-time 
Director) ** 

Total Amount 

1 Gross salary 
(a) Salary as per provisions contained in 
section 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 61,97,129 10,09,984 72,07,113 

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-
tax Act, 1961 18,000 - 18,000 

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 
17(3) Income-tax Act, 1961 - - - 

2 Stock Option - - - 
3 Sweat Equity - - - 
4 Commission 

- as % of profit - - - 
- others, specify - - - 

5 Others, please specify - - - 
Total (A) 62,15,129 10,09,984 72,25,113 
Ceiling as per the Act 13,13,43,535 

* upto 31st January, 2018
**     w.e.f 1st February, 2018 
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B. Remuneration to other Directors: 

Amount in Rs. 

C. Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel other than MD/Manager/WTD 

Amount in Rs. 

Sl. 
No. Particulars of Remuneration 

Key Managerial Personnel 

Total Mr Rajeev Jain 
(Company 
Secretary) 

Mr Gautam 
Mitra 

(CFO) * 
1 Gross salary 55,77,789 19,58,955 75,36,744 

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in 
section 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 2,07,480 - 2,07,480 

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 
17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 - - - 

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) 
Income tax Act, 1961 - - - 

2 Stock Option - - - 
3 Sweat Equity - - - 
4 Commission 

- as % of profit - - - 
- others, specify - - - 

5 Others, please 
specify - - - 

Total 57,85,269 19,58,955 77,44,224 

* w.e.f. 24.04.2017 

Sl. 
No. 

Particulars of Remuneration Mr Jugal Kishore 
Tandon 

Ms Nayantara 
Palchoudhury 

Total Amount 

1. Independent Directors
 Fee for attending board / committee meetings 1,80,000 1,40,000 3,20,000 
 Commission
 Others, please specify

- Total (1) 1,80,000 1,40,000 3,20,000 

2. Other Non-Executive Directors
 Fee for attending board / committee meetings - - - 
 Commission - - - 
 Others, please specify - - - 
Total (2) - - - 
Total (B)=(1+2) 1,80,000 1,40,000 3,20,000 
Total Managerial Remuneration (excluding 
sitting fees) (A+B) 72,25,113 

Overall Ceiling as per the Act 15,76,12,242 
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VII. PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:

Type Section of 
the 
Companies 
Act 

Brief 
Description 

Details of 
Penalty / 
Punishment/ 
Compounding 
fees imposed 

Authority 
[RD /NCLT/ 
COURT] 

Appeal made, if 
any 
(give Details) 

A. COMPANY 
Penalty 

NIL Punishment 
Compounding 
B. DIRECTORS 
Penalty 

NIL Punishment 
Compounding 
C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT 
Penalty 

NIL Punishment 
Compounding 

41



Annexure – F to Directors’ Report 

Details pertaining to remuneration in terms of Section 197 (12) of the Companies Act, 
2013 and rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014 

(i) The percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary during the financial year 2017-18 and ratio of the remuneration of 
each Director to the median remuneration of the employees of the Company for the 
financial year 2017-18 are as under: 

Sr. 
No. 

Name of Director / KMP and 
Designation 

Remuneration of 
Director/ KMP 
for financial year 
2017-18 (Rs In 
crores) 

% Increase in 
Remuneration 
in the Financial 
Year 2017-18 

Ratio of 
remuneration of 
each Director to 
the median 
remuneration of 
employees 

1. Ajit Karande       
(Whole - Time Director)* 0.68 # # 

2. Prem Pushkar Varma ** 0.19 NA # 

2. Gautam Mitra  
(Chief Financial Officer) *** 0.41 NA NA 

3. Rajeev Kumar Jain 
(Company Secretary) 0.61 7.74% NA 

* up to 31.01.2018.
**     w.e.f. 01.02.2018 
***    w.e.f. 24.04.2017 
#    since the remuneration of these Directors is only for part of the year, the ratio of their 

remuneration to median is not comparable and hence increase in remuneration is not 
stated. 

(ii)   The median remuneration of employees of the Company during the financial year was 
Rs. 7.79 lacs. 

(iii) In the Financial Year, there was an increase of 14.66 % in the median remuneration of 
employees. 

(iv) There were 212 permanent employees on the rolls of Company as on March 31, 2018 
(Previous year ended 31st March, 2017; 240 Nos). 

(v)   Average percentage increase made in the salaries of employees other than the 
managerial personnel in FY 2017-18 was 12.96 %. 

(vi) It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid is as per the Remuneration Policy for 
Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other Employees. 
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(vii) Details of top ten employees in terms of remuneration drawn are as under: 

Sl. 
No. Name Designation Qualification 

Total 
Experience 

(No. of 
years) 

Age 
(years) 

Remunera-
tion 

(Rs. p.a.) 

Date of 
commence-

ment of 
employment 

Previous 
employment 
(Designation) 

% of 
equity 
shares 
held in 

the 
Company 

1 Ajit  Karande Asso. Vice 
President ** 

BE 
(Metallurgy), 
Diploma in 
Metallurgy, 

31 56 76,11,891 01-12-2013 

JSW Steel 
Ltd.  

(Asso. Vice 
President) 

-

2 Rajeev Kumar 
Jain 

Company 
Secretary 

BSc 
(Electronics), 

CS 
25 52 59,60,014 01-04-2013 

JSW Steel 
Ltd. 

(General 
Manager) 

-

3 Rajendra 
Kumar Dekate 

Deputy 
General 
Manager 

BE 
(Chemical) 25 51 42,74,245 15-11-2013 

Bhushan 
Steel Ltd. 
(Senior DGM) 

-

4 Gautam Mitra* 
Chief 

Financial 
Officer 

B. Com, 
CA 35 60 39,47,559 01-09-2017 

JSW Steel 
Ltd.  

(General 
Manager) 

- 

5 Nilesh Kumar 
Deputy 
General 
Manager 

BSc, BE 
(Mechanical) 20 46 37,42,656 05-03-2014 

Jindal Steel & 
power Ltd. 

(Senior 
Manager) 

-

6 Mallineni 
Sukumar 

General 
Manager 

B.Tech 
(Chemical), 

M.Tech 
(Chemical) 

29 52 35,61,807 08-10-2014 

Bhushan 
Steel Ltd 
(General 
Manager) 

-

7 R M Patil* General 
Manager 

BE 
(Electrical) 30 53 26,75,256 01-04-2014 

JSW Steel 
Ltd.  

(General 
Manager) 

-

8 Prem Pushkar 
Varma* 

Whole-time 
Director 

(Head-Iron 
& 

Agglomerat
ion) 

B.Tech 
(Mechanical) 30 53 14,16,133 01-02-2018 

JSW Steel 
Ltd.  

(Vice 
President) 

- 

9 Anil Mahadeo 
Mhatre * 

General 
Manager B.E. 23 47 6,20,657 01-06-2016 

JSW Steel 
Ltd.  

(General 
Manager) 

-

10 Samir Kumar 
Lenka* 

General 
Manager 

M.Sc. In 
Defence & S, 
BA, PGD in 

HR Mgmt, PG 
Certificate in 

Business 
Management 

32 53 3,62,335 01-12-2013 

JSW Steel 
Ltd.  

(General 
Manager) 

-

* For part of the year
** Whole-time Director upto 31.01.2018 

 Remuneration shown above includes Salary, Performance Reward / Special Allowance, House
Rent Allowance / Perquisite for Accommodation, Leave Travel Allowance, Medical Reimbursement,
Perquisite for Car, Bonus, Vairable Pay, Commission and Company's contribution to Provident
Fund but does not include Leave Encashment and Company's contribution to Gratuity Fund. The
monetary value of perquisites is calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Income-Tax
Act, 1961 and Rules made thereunder.
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 The employees mentioned above are not covered under Rule 5 (3) (viii) of The Companies
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

 The nature of employment is contractual.

 The employees mentioned above are not a relative of any Director of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To The Members of Amba River Coke Limited  
Report on the Ind AS Financial Statements  
 
We have audited the accompanying Ind AS financial statements of Amba River Coke Limited (“the 
Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2018, and the Statement of Profit and 
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Cash Flows and the Statement of 
Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of the significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Ind AS Financial Statements 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these Ind AS financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance including other 
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India.  
 
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Ind AS financial statements based on our audit. 
 
In conducting our audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and 
auditing standards and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the 
provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder and the Order issued under section 143(11) of the 
Act. 
 
We conducted our audit of the Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
Ind AS financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the 
disclosures in the Ind AS financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Ind AS financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the Ind AS financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the Ind AS financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the Ind AS financial statements. 
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Opinion 
 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Ind AS and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2018, and its profit, 
total comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

 
a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 

knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so 
far as it appears from our examination of those books. 

 

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, 
the Statement of Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are 
in agreement with the relevant books of accounts. 

 

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting 
Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act. 

 

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Company as on 
31st March, 2018 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified 
as on 31st March, 2018 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act. 

 

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
“Annexure A”. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting. 

 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the 
best of our information and according to the explanations given to us: 

 

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position 
in its Ind AS financial statements.  
 

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for 
which there were any material foreseeable losses. 
 

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the investor Education 
and Protection Fund by the Company. 

 
2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s report) Order 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the 

Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure B” a statement 
on the matters specified in paragraph 3 and 4 of the Order. 
 

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

(Firm Registration No. 117366W/ W-100018) 
 

A. Siddharth  
Partner 

Mumbai, dated: April 30, 2018                               (Membership No. 31467) 
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
(Referred to in paragraph 1(f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section 
of our report of even date) 
 
Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 
3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 
 
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Amba River Coke Limited 
(“the Company”) as of March 31, 2018 in conjunction with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements 
of the Company for the year ended on that date. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 
 
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal financial control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (“the Guidance note”) issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 
required under the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial 
reporting of the Company based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing 
prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of 
internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects. 
 
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of 
internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting. 
 
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
 
A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company's internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
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made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to 
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 
financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 
March 31, 2018, based on the internal financial control over financial reporting criteria established by 
the Company considering the essential components of the internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
 
 

 
For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP 

Chartered Accountants 
(Firm Registration No. 117366W/ W-100018) 

 
A. Siddharth  

Partner 
Mumbai, dated: April 30, 2018                               (Membership No. 31467) 
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ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
(Referred to in paragraph 2 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of 
our report of even date) 
 
(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative 

details and situation of fixed assets.  
(b) The Company has a program of verification of fixed assets to cover all the items in a phased 
manner over a period of three years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size 
of the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the program, certain fixed assets were 
physically verified by the management during the year. According to the information and 
explanations given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification. 
(c) The Company does not have any immovable properties of freehold or leasehold land and 
acquired building and hence reporting under paragraph 3(i)(c) of the Order is not applicable. 
  

(ii) As explained to us, the inventories were physically verified during the year by the Management 
at reasonable intervals and no material discrepancies were noticed on physical verification. 
 

(iii) The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited 
Liability Partnerships or other parties covered in the Register maintained under Section 189 of the 
Companies Act, 2013. 

 
(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has 

complied with the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of grant of loans, 
making investments and providing guarantees and securities, as applicable. The Company has 
not granted any loans to director during the year and hence Section 185 of the Companies Act, 
2013 is not applicable. 

  
(v) According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted any 

deposit and hence reporting under paragraph 3(v) of the Order is not applicable. 
  
(vi) The maintenance of cost records has been specified by the Central Government under section 

148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013. We have broadly reviewed the cost records maintained by the 
Company pursuant to the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, as amended 
prescribed by the Central Government under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 
2013, and are of the opinion that, prima facie, the prescribed cost records have been made and 
maintained. We have, however, not made a detailed examination of the cost records with a view 
to determine whether they are accurate or complete. 

  
(vii) According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues: 
 

(a) The Company has generally been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, including 
Provident Fund, Income-tax, Sales Tax,  Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value 
Added Tax, Cess and other material statutory dues applicable to it with the appropriate 
authorities. As informed to us the provisions of Employees’ State Insurance were not 
applicable to the Company during the current year. 
  

(b) There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, Income-tax, Sales 
Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value Added Tax, Cess and other material 
statutory dues in arrears as at 31st March, 2018 for a period of more than six months from the 
date they became payable.  

 
(c) Details of dues of Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty and Value 

Added Tax which have not been deposited as on 31st March, 2018 on account of disputes are 
given below : 
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Name of 
statute 

Nature of 
dues 

Forum 
where 

dispute is 
pending 

Period(s) to 
which the 

amount 
relates * 

Amount 
unpaid  
(Rs. in 
crores) 

Amount paid 
under 
protest 
(Rs. in 
crores) 

The 
Customs 
Act, 1962 

Customs 
Duty 

CESTAT 2014-15 to 
2016-17 

273.75      8.07 

* Period represents the earliest year to the latest year 
 

(viii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has 
not defaulted in the repayment of loans or borrowings to banks and dues to debenture holders. 
The Company has not taken any loans or borrowings from financial institutions and 
government. 
 

(ix) The Company has neither raised any moneys by way of initial public offer/ further public offer 
(including debt instruments)/terms loans nor were such proceeds pending to be applied, during 
the current year and hence reporting under paragraph 3(ix) of the Order is not applicable. 

 
(x) To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us, no 

fraud by the Company and no material fraud on the Company by its officers or employees has 
been noticed or reported during the year. 

 
(xi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has 

paid / provided managerial remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated 
by the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013. 

 
(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under paragraph 3(xii) of the Order 

is not applicable. 
 
(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us the Company is 

in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Companies Act, 2013, where applicable, for all 
transactions with the related parties and the details of related party transactions have been 
disclosed in the IND AS financial statements etc. as required by the applicable accounting 
standards. 

 
(xiv) During the year, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of 

shares or fully or partly convertible debentures and hence reporting under paragraph 3(xiv) of 
the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 
(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, during the year, 

the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons 
connected with him. Accordingly paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable.  

 
(xvi) The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-I of the Reserve Bank of India 

Act, 1934. 
 

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

(Firm Registration No. 117366W/ W-100018) 
 

A. Siddharth  
Partner 

Mumbai, dated: April 30, 2018                               (Membership No. 31467) 
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